IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOEL I	DIAZ	Ζ,	:
		Appellant,	:
vs.			:
STATE	OF	FLORIDA,	:
		Appellee.	:
			:

Case No.SC01-278

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR LEE COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0236365

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse

P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Joel Diaz was charged by indictment filed November 18, 1997 in Lee County with first degree murder of Charles Shaw, attempted first degree murder of Lissa Shaw, and aggravated assault with a firearm upon Roy Isakson (R1/7-8). After the Public Defender was permitted to withdraw, private attorneys J. Frank Porter and Neil Potter were appointed to represent appellant (R1/13-15; R2/22-24; R/49-51; SR22,28). The defense file a notice of intent to rely on an insanity defense (R2/32-33; SR27-30).

The case proceeded to trial on July 25-28, 2000 before Circuit Judge Thomas S. Reese and a jury. Just before jury selection, it was put on the record that the state had made a plea offer that it would not seek the death penalty if appellant pled guilty or no contest to the charges in the indictment (T1/6-7). Appellant stated on the record that it was still his desire to proceed to trial (T1/7).

At the end of the four day trial, the jury found appellant guilty as charged on each of the three counts (R4/84-86; T4/793).

The penalty phase took place on October 10, 2000, and resulted in a 9-3 advisory verdict recommending the death penalty (R5/138; T5/892-93). After a November 3, 2000 Spencer hearing (SR48-74), the trial court imposed a death sentence for the murder of Charles Shaw on January 29, 2001 (R5/170-97,203-16; R6/234-35). Appellant also received a consecutive 151 month sentence for the attempted murder of

Lissa Shaw, and a consecutive five year sentence for the aggravated assault upon Roy Isakson, each with a three year mandatory minimum for use of a firearm (R5/196-97,199-202; R6/238-44).

Notice of appeal was filed on February 1, 2002 (R5/218-19).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. <u>Trial - State's Case</u>

Barbara Shaw lived with her husband Charles, her daughter Lissa, and Lissa's four year old daughter Taylor on Dresden Court in the Cross Creek subdivision in Fort Myers (T2/204-41,244-45, see T2/293). Barbara¹ is a quadriplegic and uses a wheelchair; she retains movement of her arms and has good use of (but no strength in) her right hand and limited use of her left hand (T2/248).

Joel Diaz (appellant) had dated Lissa for about two years, and they had lived together for about a year. There were problems in the relationship, and in late August, 1997 (two months before the charged offenses) Lissa moved back home with her parents (T2/241-42). Joel would continue to call and try to see her, but Lissa wouldn't take his calls (T2/242). To the best of Barbara's knowledge, Lissa did

¹ For clarity Barbara, Charles, and Lissa Shaw will be referred to by their first names.

not see Joel during this period, although she did go to his house on one occasion to move her things out (T2/242, 265).

In the early morning of October 28, 1997, around 6:30, Barbara was lying in bed with her husband; she could hear Lissa bumping around in the kitchen fixing her lunch and getting ready for work (T2/242-43). She heard Lissa go through the laundry room into the attached garage, and she heard her get in the car, slam the door, start the engine, and raise the garage door (T2/243). The next thing Barbara heard was gunshots; about five of them (T2/243). She started yelling, "Oh my God, that sounds like gunshots and Lissa just went out the door to work" (T2/246). Her husband Charles sat up and oriented himself, then jumped out of bed and ran outside, wearing only the underwear he'd been sleeping in (T2/246-47).

Some time elapsed. It seemed like forever to Barbara, but she realized it was probably only a couple of minutes (T2/247). She could hear Charles' voice in the bedroom, talking very softly, saying "Calm down, put it down . . . take it easy", things like that (T2/247). Barbara did not know who he was talking to at first. She rolled back into a position where she could see, and she saw that Charles was talking to Joel Diaz (T2/248,251,267-68). Joel was standing on the right side of the chest of drawers right by the bathroom door (T2/249-51). Joel was holding a gun in his two hands, pointed at Charles' chest from a distance of 6-8 inches (T2/251).

According to Barbara, Charles "had one hand on the chest of drawers and he was talking to him with the other hand this way pleading with him to put it down, calm down, you know don't do this, and Joel pulled the trigger" (T2/251). Barbara testified that Joel pulled the trigger only once, but "[t]here apparently was no shell. It just clicked" (T2/252). She saw Charles "sort of visibly relax", relieved that the gun was empty, "but Joel was just very fast. He had the gun in his left hand and he flipped it open so the cylinder fell out, tipped it up so the shells fell out and reloaded. When my husband realized that he was reloading, he ran in the bathroom because he had nowhere to go except over the top of me or through Joel" (T2/252-53). When Charles retreated into the bathroom, there was no other way for him to get out (T2/253). Joel stepped inside the bathroom door. Charles stopped in front of the shower, turned around and looked at Joel, put his hand up and said, "Oh, man why you got to do this" (T2/253-54). Joel fired three times (T2/253-54). Barbara saw Charles' knees buckle, and he grabbed his midsection and fell face first onto the floor (T2/254). Joel then came back into the bedroom beside Barbara. He had the gun in his hand and was sort of moving it around, and he ran his other hand through his hair some, and Barbara was screaming at him "Why did you do this, you don't have to do this" (T/254). Appellant said he deserved to die (T2/254). Barbara thought that Joel was going to kill her because she'd seen

him shoot Charles (T2/255). Instead, after he was in the room with her for only a very short time ("I don't imagine it was more than 30 seconds, maybe a minute"), Joel suddenly turned around and went back into the bathroom (T2/255). Barbara testified that her view was not restricted and she was able to see completely into the bathroom (T2/267). "I saw him -- he walked up to my husband's body where he was laying and he bent over him and extended his right arm and he pulled the trigger. I saw him put the gun to my husband's lower back and pulled the trigger again" (T2/255). Barbara could not see what he was pointing at when he fired the second time, but she judged by the span of movement of his arm that it was in the direction of Charles' head (T2/255-56).

Joel was in the bathroom for 30 seconds at the most (T2/256). When he came back out he started talking to Barbara (T2/265,270). He remained in the house for 45 minutes to an hour before the police came (T/256-57,273). In addition to spending some time in the bedroom talking to her, he was all over the house, checking out the rooms, including Lissa's bedroom and Taylor's bedroom (T2/257). [Her granddaughter Taylor had slept in Lissa's bedroom that night (T2/257). To the best of Barbara's knowledge, Joel never encountered Taylor at any point during the incident (T2/273,276)]. There was no phone in Barbara's bedroom. She heard Joel in the kitchen making a

phone call, which she assumed was to his mother because he was speaking in Spanish (T2/257). The phone rang on three occasions; the first two times Joel did not answer it, while the third time he did answer it (T2/274).

While appellant was in her bedroom talking to her, he would pass the gun back and forth from one hand to the other. He would unload it and load it again, walk around, come back, put the gun under her bed, take it out again (T258,271,274). He did that three, maybe four, times (T2/258). Barbara described him as acting nervous, but not irrational (T2/274-75). During this time, appellant made many comments to Barbara (T2/256, 270). He told her "I've never been in trouble before", and she said, "You are now" (T2/256). He said "If that bitch of a daughter of yours, if I could have got her, I wouldn't have had to kill your husband" (T2/ 256). Joel told her that he had just wanted to talk to Lissa, and she asked him why he brought a gun if he just wanted to talk to her (T2/259). He repled that he didn't feel he could come to her dad's house without being able to defend himself (T2/271-73). At one point Joel said "I should just blow my brains out", and Barbara told him she just thought that would be one more senseless killing (T2/258).

Among the other comments Joel made to Barbara -- all while walking around loading and unloading the gun -- were that there is more than one kind of abuse, that he didn't know why Lissa had left

him, that her husband was prejudiced and deserved to die and she was probably prejudiced too (T2/270-71). He said to Barbara, "You'll probably never forgive me for this" (T2/270).

Barbara testified that, throughout the 45 minute to an hour period before the sheriff's department arrived, there was nothing preventing Joel from leaving (T2/271). When the police pulled up and she heard their engines outside, Joel went into the hallway and then into the laundry room (which connects to the garage) and out of her line of sight (T2/273-74, see 243). She heard the officers tell him to get down on his face and put his hands over his head (T2/274).

Later that day, after Joel was gone, Barbara inspected her house and found that Lissa's room "was a wreck. All the drawers were pulled out of her chest -- like, gone through" (T2/275). Lissa did not normally leave her room in that condition (T2/2750n crossexamination, Barbara acknowledged that prior to hearing and seeing her husband and Joel in the bedroom, she did not know what had happened that might have caused Joel to become upset (T2/268). On redirect, she stated that she never saw Charles make any overt movements or actions toward Joel while they were in the bedroom or the bathroom (T2/277-78). Barbara did not recall observing an abrasion or cut on Joel's left eye (T2/269). Asked if it would refresh her memory to look at a photograph, she replied, "I have seen

a photograph with it on, but I don't remember seeing him look like that" (T2/270, see T3/504-05; T4/665; R4/74-75).

Barbara testified that when you enter her bedroom door, the chest of drawers is on the right, between the bedroom door and the bathroom (T2/268). Propped up against the wall and the chest of drawers were two hunting rifles; one sealed and wrapped in a green vinyl case, the other broken down, wrapped in a blanket, and tied with rope (T2/252.268,278-79).

Lissa Shaw testified that a year after she and Joel Diaz began dating she and her then three year old daughter Taylor moved in with Joel (2/281-83). Lissa described her relationship with Joel as not always good and not always bad, but it was a rocky relationship (T2/283,306). The two of them had trouble communicating all the time, whether it was over "problems, friends, money, house things", everything (T2/306,313). Joel was jealous and controlling, but he had trouble controlling his impulses and his temper (T2/283,306,313-14):

> MS. GONZALEZ [prosecutor]: Was he the kind of person that got mad easily? LISSA SHAW: Yes. Q. If things didn't go his way? A. Sometimes it didn't make sense why he was mad.

(T2/314)

Their live-in arrangement was "on and off", and Lissa had moved out and moved back in on two prior occasions before she moved out a third time in August, 1997 (T2/283-84,306-07). One time, when Joel was getting ready to leave for a vacation in Mexico, he told Lissa it would be a good time for them to think about things (T2/307). When she moved out in August, 1997, it was sort of a joint decision; they had discussed it and Joel said he didn't care, so Lissa decided to move back to her parents' house (T2/284-85,312).

After she moved out, Joel continued to call her on the phone and try to see her, but she did not want to have any contact with him (T2/285). She testified that she was afraid of him because he had beaten her up more than once (T2/314). She was trying not to communicate with Joel "but there were some other circumstances" (T2/308-09). On two occasions she had to go back to the trailer which they had shared, and the two of them talked "[a] handful of times", the last time in mid-September (T2/307-08). She decided she didn't want to talk to Joel any more, but she knew that he did want to talk to her (T2/312).

On October 28, around 6:30 in the morning, Lissa went into the garage and got in her car (a dark blue Iroc Camaro) to go to work (T2/285). She locked the doors, started the engine, and hit the garage door opener (T286,288). The she caught a glimpse in the rear view mirror that somebody had come underneath the door, so she

checked to make sure her car doors were locked and sat back in the seat (T2/286). When she turned, Joel was standing at the driver's side window with a gun pointing at her head (T2/286-87,309). She believed the gun was a revolver, because it had a cylinder (T2/286-87). Joel tried to open the door, and he kept telling her to get out of the car (T2/287,309). He never made any statements that he was going to kill her or hurt her (T2/312-13). Lissa was telling him "Please don't do this, don't do this, don't hurt me", and when she saw this wasn't going anywhere she told him "Okay, okay, hold on a second, let me get my stuff" (T2.287-88). She leaned down like she was getting things from the floorboard, and as she was doing so, she reached for the gearshift, put it in reverse, hit the gas, and took off (T2/288). She heard about three gunshots (T2/288). She backed out of the garage and driveway, bumping into a landscaped island in the street, and drove away at a high rate of speed (T2/289-90). At the stop sign she hesitated and looked in her side mirror to see what was going on. She saw Joel in the grassy area walking in her direction (T2/290-91). Her car went up in the grass, hit the sprinklers, and spun around (T2/291, 297).

The last thing Lissa saw as she was driving away was her dad, in his underwear, coming out of the garage area and walking toward Joel until they were facing each other in the front yard (T2/303, 310,316). Joel was holding the gun in both hands and pointing it at

her dad (T2/303,310). Her dad, with his left hand swinging and his right hand pointing at Joel, continued to walk toward Joel until there was about five feet between them (T2/303,311). Asked if her dad appeared to be angry, Lissa said 'Oh, yeah"; he appeared to be yelling at Joel, though she couldn't hear anything he might have been saying (T/303,311).

On her way out of the neighborhood Lissa encountered a jogger. She slowed down to tell him to call the police, that somebody was in her house with a gun and there were still people left in the house (T2/291). Lissa then drove to the hospital, where she realized for the first time that she had been shot (T2/289,291-92)Lissa testified that the gunshots did not cause her window to completely shatter; "[i]t crackled because of the tint on it" but "[i]t didn't fall apart" (T288). "There was a hole in the middle of it, but the basic -- it was up" (T2/288-89). There was also a hole in her passenger door (T2/297). Bullet fragments were recovered from her car, and there was glass all over the seats and on the floor (T2/295-97).

At the entrance to the residential community where Lissa lived with her parents there are small gates which resemble railroad crossing gates. These are opened by remote control, or by telephoning a resident to open them for you. Joel Diaz did not have a remote control to open the gates, nor did Lissa open them for him

that morning (T2/293). When she backed out of the garage that morning, her mom's van was in the driveway, but there was no other vehicle around which Joel might have been driving (T2/286,294).

Lissa's daughter had slept in the bed with her that night, and was still in bed when Lissa left for work (T2/298). When Lissa left the house that morning she did not leave her bedroom in disarray, and her dresser drawers were not pulled out (T2/298).

Delores and Roy Isakson were neighbors of the Shaws (T2/317-18,327). Roy is a retired New Jersey police lieutenant (T2/321, 327). A little before 6:30 a.m. on October 28, as daylight was breaking, Delores -- who was planning to go jogging with some other neighbors -- came out of her house to take out the garbage (T2/317-18,325). She noticed a man standing between the Shaws' closed garage door and the back of Barbara's van (which was parked in the driveway facing the street) (T2/318-20). The man, whom she had never seen before, was of average height with dark skin and dark colored worktype clothing (T2/324). Delores tried to wave to him, but she wondered what he was doing there since there were no other vehicles that did not belong to the Shaws (T2/319-20). She thought the man saw her, and he walked around to the passenger side of the van where she couldn't see him (T2/320,325).

Delores awakened her husband, told him there was a stranger outside who was kind of suspicious, and asked him to investigate

(T2/320-21). Then, from her kitchen, Delores heard squealing of tires and what sounded like two gunshots (T2/321-22). She telephoned Barbara Shaw and got no answer (T2/322). Delores and her husband went outside and up the street toward the Shaw home; they were joined by the women Delores jogged with (T2/322). The Shaws' garage door was now open (T2/322-23). The door between the garage and the laundry area was partially opened, and Delores could see a figure moving back and forth (T2/323). She couldn't tell if it was the same person she'd seen earlier in the driveway (T2/324). Delores left almost immediately, while her husband remained (T2/325).

Roy Isakson testified that, after his wife awakened him and asked him to check out an individual up the street, he went outside with his dog and proceeded to the Shaws' home (T2/327-29). His wife did not accompany them (T2/329,335-36). The Shaws' garage door was up, the door from the garage to the interior of the house was open, and there was a individual pacing back and forth (T2/329). Roy entered the garage with his dog, and called for Charlie Shaw (T2/329-30,336). A person Roy didn't know stepped into the garage, raised a black revolver, pointed it at his face, and said, "Get the fuck out of here" (T2/330-31). He seemed "somewhat agitated", though not intoxicated (T2/331). Roy, concerned for his life, said "You've got it" and proceeded to leave (T2/330-31,334-36). Roy went home and called the police (T2/337). The encounter in the garage took a

matter of seconds (T2/333-35). Roy Isakson identified Joel Diaz in court as the person who pointed the gun at him (T2/330-31,333).

Another neighbor, Patricia Hadgehorn, was in her house when she heard five gunshots in succession (T2/338-39). She heard tires screeching, and what she took to be a car going up on the curb or embankment, and then coming back down and speeding away (T2/340-41). She called to her husband to come look, and they recognized Lissa Shaw's blue car on the street, leaving (T2/340-41). Her curiosity aroused, Mrs. Hadgehorn went outside to see what was going on, but Roy Isakson yelled at her to get back in the house, so she did (T2/342-43). Later, through her window, she saw some policemen in the Shaw driveway (T2/343).

Deborah Wilson, also a neighbor of the Shaws, was returning home from her morning walk when she heard five or six gunshots (T2/344-46). She heard tires squealing and saw a bluish green car come around the corner, hit the curb, and spin its wheels (T2/346-47). The car got untracked and headed out of the subdivision (T2/347-48). A minute or two later, Ms. Wilson saw a man in dark pants and shirt walking backwards into the street with his hands behind his back (T2/348-49,355). She couldn't tell if he had anything in his hands (T2/349). Then Charles Shaw, clad in just briefs, came into her vantage point (T2/349). The prosecutor asked,

"And where did this confrontation wind up going?", and Ms. Wilson answered that the man in dark clothing was standing in the street, and Mr. Shaw was standing on the corner pointing at him (T2/349-50). Ms. Wilson (who was hiding behind some palm trees) assumed they were having a conversation, but she couldn't hear what was being said (T2/350,354-55). At some point Mr. Shaw left and she could not see where he went (T2/350-51). The other man -- who had not removed his hands from behind his back while Mr. Shaw was there -- went over to an electrical box or telephone box, laid an object [Ms. Wilson couldn't see what it was] on top of the box, pulled something out of his right pocket, and did a motion which led Ms. Wilson to believe he was loading a gun (T2/351-53). Frightened, she backed along the hedge and walked toward the clubhouse where she knew there would be a phone (T2/352-53).

Lee County sheriff's deputy Denise Wohmer² met with Lissa Shaw at the Gulf Coast Hospital emergency room at 7:30 a.m. (T2/357-60). Lissa was nervous and excited, but alert and able to talk (T2/360). She had sustained "what appeared to be a gunshot wound to her right side of her neck and also to the right shoulder area" (T2/360). Lissa told Deputy Wohmer that her ex-boyfriend Joel Diaz had approached her and started shooting at her (T2/361). Wohmer

 $^{^2}$ Although the transcript refers to Deputy Wohmer as "Dennis" (T2/357), the index lists her as Denise, and the latter appears to be correct (see T2/369).

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