IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOEL DIAZ,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC01-0278 Lower Tribunal No. 97-3305CF

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 14087
Westwood Center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
Telephone: (813) 801-0600
Facsimile: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

succeeded in speaking with her a few times. (V2:T.285; 308). Lissa last talked with Appellant on September 17th or 18th. (V2:T.308-09).

On October 6, 1997, Appellant went to Rick's Pawn Shop and purchased a Rossi .38 Special from Philip Primrose. After the three day cooling-off period, Appellant returned to the pawn shop but was unable to pick up the firearm because he had only a "conditional approval." (V3:T.441-43). Primrose told Appellant he would call FDLE in three to five days and see if he had been approved. During this time, Appellant continued to call the pawn shop and Mr. Primrose testified that Appellant was irate with the delay. (V3:T.444). On October 16, 1997, Appellant was finally allowed to take the firearm.

On October 27, 1997, Appellant asked his brother to give him a ride to a friend's house the following morning at 5:30 a.m. (V3:T.469). The next morning, Appellant drove his brother, Jose, and Jose's girlfriend to the entrance of the Shaws' gated community. Appellant exited the vehicle armed with the loaded .38 Rossi and a number of extra live rounds. Jose's girlfriend got into the driver's seat and drove Jose to work. (V3:T.470-74). Appellant walked about five minutes to Lissa Shaw's

 $^{^6}$ Law enforcement officers found a box of .38 caliber ammunition at Appellant's residence. There were 36 live rounds in the box of 50. (V3:T.499).

residence and waited outside by the garage.

One of the Shaws' neighbors, Delores Isaakson, was about to go jogging at approximately 6:30 a.m. when she observed Appellant, dressed in dark clothing, standing outside the Shaws' residence by their garage. She testified that she thought Appellant saw her and he then walked around to the other side of a parked van so she could not see him anymore. (V3:T.320). Mrs. Isaakson went back home and told her husband, Roy Isaakson, a retired police officer, that there was a suspicious person outside by the Shaws' garage. While her husband was getting up from bed, Delores Isaakson heard squealing tires and gunshots. (V3:T.321). She and her husband went outside and observed the Shaws' garage door open and the door leading into the Shaws' laundry room was also open. Delores Isaakson observed a figure moving back and forth in the laundry room area. (V3:T.321-25).

Roy Isaakson testified that he also observed the figure moving back and forth in the open doorway from the garage to the laundry room. Mr. Isaakson went into the garage and called for Charles Shaw. Appellant stepped into the garage, pointed a gun at him, and said, "Get the fuck out of here." (V3:T.330).

Barbara Shaw lived in the house with her husband, Charles, her daughter, Lissa, and her four-year-old grand-daughter, Taylor. On the morning of October 28, 1997, Barbara was in bed

at about 6:30 when she heard her daughter in the kitchen area getting ready to leave for work. (V2:T.240-43). Barbara heard Lissa enter the garage, start her car, and then open the garage door. The next thing Barbara heard were five gunshots. (V2:T.243). Barbara woke her husband up and told him about the shots, and he ran outside dressed only in his underwear. (V2:T.246-47). A couple of minutes passed, and Barbara heard her husband's voice saying, "Calm down, put it down, come on, calm down, take it easy." (V2:T.247, 251). She eventually was able to roll over in her bed and observe her husband come into the bedroom with Appellant following him. (V2:T.251).

Once inside the bedroom, Appellant was standing on one side of a chest of drawers and Charles Shaw was on the other side pleading with Appellant to put down his gun and to calm down.

Thissa Shaw testified that Appellant came underneath the garage door when she opened it and approached the driver's side window and immediately pointed a gun at her head. Lissa began pleading with Appellant to no avail. (V2:T.286-87). She then told him she would get out of the car and talk to him, but when she reached down to get her belongings, she put the car in reverse and quickly backed out. Appellant began firing into the car, striking her in the neck and shoulder area. (V2:T.287-88; 360). As she was driving away from the residence, she saw her father pointing at Appellant while Appellant pointed a gun at her father. (V2:T.303). While at the hospital, Lissa told an officer that the last thing she remembered was her ex-boyfriend chasing her father across the yard with a gun in his hand. (V2:T.361).

⁸Barbara is a quadriplegic who was confined to her bed during the entire incident. (V2:T.248).

(V2:T.251). Appellant held the gun in both hands and pointed it at Charles' chest. Appellant pulled the trigger once and the gun just clicked. Charles Shaw gave an audible sigh of relief and physically relaxed his body, but Appellant flipped the revolver's cylinder open and emptied the shells and reloaded the gun. (V2:T.253-54). When Charles Shaw realized Appellant was reloading the gun, he ran into the master bathroom. Appellant followed Charles into the bathroom and Mr. Shaw put his hands up and said, "Oh, man. Why you got to do this?" Appellant proceeded to shoot Charles Shaw three times. (V2:T.253-54). Mr. Shaw grabbed his midsection and fell onto the floor.

After shooting Charles Shaw three times, Appellant came back into the bedroom and told Barbara Shaw that "he deserved to die." (V2:T.254). After a short period of time, Appellant returned to the bathroom and shot Charles Shaw two more times. Barbara Shaw testified that Appellant shot her husband in the lower back and then moved his arm up towards the head area.

The medical examiner testified that the victim suffered five gunshot wounds: (1) a flesh wound to the right calf; (2) one to the abdomen, entering from the right side; (3) another abdomen shot entering from the opposite direction; (4) a wound in the upper chest area that entered from a shallow angle; and (5) an execution- style wound to the back of the head from very close

range. (V3:T.454-60). Although the medical examiner could not identify the order of the five shots, she did testify that the three wounds to the calf and abdomen area would be very painful, but not fatal. The wound to the chest, however, would be almost immediately fatal, with the victim only living approximately a few seconds to a minute or two. The victim would have lost consciousness "very quickly." (V3:T.464). The wound to the back of the head would be instantly fatal. (V3:T.455-60). the prosecuting attorney argued to the jury in closing argument, the pictures introduced into evidence clearly show a substantial amount of blood on the bathroom tile floor smeared by the victim as he moved around on the floor. In order for there to be this amount of blood and smearing, the victim had to be alive and conscious for some period of time. Thus, the prosecutor properly argued that the two fatal wounds to the chest and the head had to be the last two wounds inflicted when Appellant returned to the bathroom. (V4:T.711-12).9

⁹Barbara Shaw indicated that the final shot was to the victim's head. Although she testified that the fourth shot was aimed at her husband's lower back, there were no gunshot wounds to this area. The circumstantial evidence supports the State's theory that the fourth shot was to the victim's chest. After the first three shots were fired, the victim grabbed his midsection and fell to the floor. This is consistent with the victim being shot in the abdomen. The State maintained that the first shot struck the victim in his calf because the bullet struck the bottom of the shower stall. (V3:T.400).

The State's evidence surrounding the attempted murder of Lissa Shaw and the murder of Charles Shaw clearly contradicted Appellant's version of events. Appellant's primary claim in this issue is that Charles Shaw struck him while in the garage, and this suddenly changed Appellant's behavior and caused him to "lose it" and go after Charles Shaw. Although there is no direct evidence to contradict Appellant's self-serving testimony that Charles Shaw struck him in the face during an altercation in the garage, the State submits that the circumstantial evidence does not corroborate his story. Furthermore, even if Charles Shaw struck Appellant in the face as alleged by Appellant, such a justifiable defensive action does not negate the aggravating circumstances of CCP and HAC.

It is well established that the question of whether the evidence fails to exclude all reasonable hypotheses of innocence is for the jury to determine, and where there is substantial, competent evidence to support the jury's verdict, the verdict will not be reversed on appeal. Cochran v. State, 547 So. 2d 928, 929-930 (Fla. 1989) (stating that the circumstantial evidence standard does not require the jury to believe the defense version of facts on which the state has produced conflicting evidence, and the state, as appellee, is entitled to a view of any conflicting evidence in the light most favorable

to the jury's verdict); see also Finney v. State, 660 So. 2d 674, 678-79 (Fla. 1995) (concluding that jury can reject a defendant's reasonable hypothesis of innocence based on the defendant's inconsistent statements).

In the instant case, Appellant claimed that he did not go over to the Shaws' residence with the intent to murder anyone. (V4:T.587). However, the State's evidence established that Appellant took a .38 caliber handgun and a large amount of ammunition with him. 10 After confronting Lissa Shaw in the garage at gunpoint, Appellant fired five shots at her as she attempted to flee in her car. Two of these shots struck her in the upper body and two projectiles lodged in the steering wheel. 11 When Charles Shaw went outside to investigate,

[&]quot;10 Appellant claimed that he did not mean to take the gun with him, it was just in the car and he did not want to leave it there; it was a just a "coincidence." (V3:T.592). When his brother was not looking, he managed to grab the gun and stick it in his waistband. (V3:T.588; V4:T.632). On cross-examination, Appellant initially stated that he loaded the gun that day, but then claimed the gun was already loaded. (V4:T.630). Appellant did not mention when or how he grabbed approximately a dozen extra shells to take with him. Appellant fired five shots at Lissa, five shots at Charles, and law enforcement officers found six live shells at the scene. Thus, in addition to carrying a loaded gun, Appellant also possessed a pocket full of ammunition.

 $^{^{11}}$ Another projectile was recovered from the right front passenger door. The ammunition would be described as hollow point ammunition. (V3:T.409-12). Appellant claimed he fired these five shots as a "bad reaction" to Lissa backing out of the driveway. (V3:T.592).

Appellant pointed the gun at Mr. Shaw. Eventually, Appellant followed Mr. Shaw back into the house. Although Appellant claimed that Mr. Shaw and him fought in the road, an eyewitness to the incident, Deborah Wilson, did not observe any physical confrontation between the two men. In fact, Ms. testified that she observed Appellant walk into the street following Lissa Shaw's car. Appellant was walking backwards with his hands behind his back. (V2:T.344-50). Ms. Wilson saw Charles Shaw come out of the house and stand on the corner pointing his finger at Appellant while he stood in the street. Mr. Shaw left and Appellant walked over to an electrical box and made motions like he may be loading a gun. (V2:T.349-53). This evidence directly conflicts with Appellant's story that Mr. Shaw and him fought in the street and that Mr. Shaw corralled him into the garage area. 12 Appellant's claim in this issue that he "lost it" after being struck in the face in the garage is completely inconsistent with the State's evidence.

¹²Appellant claimed he fought with Mr. Shaw in the yard and Mr. Shaw pushed him back into the yard when he wanted to walk away. (V3:T.594). Appellant initially did not describe how they "winded up in the garage" (V3:T.594), but on cross-examination, he testified that Mr. Shaw cornered him and forced him into the garage. (V4:T.615-17). Obviously, the jury could easily reject Appellant's story given Ms. Wilson's testimony and the absolute unlikelihood of an unarmed man in his underwear controlling and corralling Appellant, an armed man with an open road at his disposal.

attempting to kill Lissa Shaw by shooting at her five times, Appellant continued his rampage by chasing Mr. Shaw into his residence. Once inside the Shaws' master bedroom, Appellant pointed his revolver at Mr. Shaw's chest and pulled the trigger. When the gun did not discharge, Charles Shaw audibly sighed with relief and physically relaxed. Appellant then reloaded the gun and pursued Mr. Shaw into the bathroom. The evidence supports the trial court's conclusion that Mr. Shaw, pleading for his life, was shot three times, once in the leg and twice in the abdomen. (V5:R.206). Appellant then exited the bathroom and spoke with Mrs. Shaw for a period of time. Appellant told Mrs. Shaw that her husband deserved to die. (V3:T.254). Appellant then returned to the bathroom and inflicted two more shots, including the final execution-style shot to the back of his head.

Even if Appellant's story were to be accepted that Mr. Shaw struck him in the face in the garage, such a defensive action was justified and did not cause Appellant to change his behavior. There is no evidence, however, that supports Appellant's self-serving story. Appellant claims he had a cut on his face that was bleeding. Although there was testimony presented that blood droplets were located at various places throughout the house (V3:T.416-18, 505), the jury was in the

best position to determine whether the evidence supported Appellant's claim that he suffered a cut from a physical altercation with Mr. Shaw. Appellant produced a booking photograph that allegedly showed a cut by his left eye. Barbara Shaw testified, however, that she did not observe any abrasion or cut on Appellant's face while he was inside her residence. She did recall subsequently seeing a photograph which depicted a cut above his eye. (V2:T.269-70).¹³ Thus, the State submits that contrary to Appellant's position on appeal, the evidence did not corroborate Appellant's version of events. As will be discussed in the remaining issues of this brief, even if this Court finds that Mr. Shaw struck Appellant while in the garage, this action does not negate the trial court's finding of the aggravating circumstances of HAC and CCP.

¹³When arrested in the garage, Officer Turner told Appellant to get on his knees. Officer Turner "took him to his face and shook him down for any weapons." (V2:T.372). It is unclear whether Appellant was taken down in the area where broken glass was located. (V3:T.404).

The case agent, Officer Chiapetta, testified that on the afternoon of the murder, he came into contact with Appellant but he did not notice any injuries to Appellant. (V3:T.504). He testified that he thought Appellant had an abrasion on his face, but he was not sure if it was an abrasion or a birthmark. (V3:T.505).

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE THAT THE MURDER WAS ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, OR CRUEL, AND THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING OF THIS AGGRAVATOR.

Appellant argues that the trial judge erred in instructing the jury on the aggravating factor that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC), and in finding that this aggravator had been proven beyond a reasonable doubt. The State submits that Appellant has failed to preserve any issue regarding the trial court's jury instruction on the HAC aggravator and asserts that there is substantial, competent evidence in the record to support the trial court's finding of this aggravating circumstance.

Appellant has failed to preserve for appeal any issue regarding the applicability of the jury instruction on the HAC aggravator. When the trial judge conducted the charge conference at the penalty phase proceeding, the court asked defense counsel if he had any objection to the jury instructions proposed by the State on the three aggravating circumstances:

(1) HAC; (2) CCP; and (3) prior conviction for a violent felony.

(V5:T.846-47, 891). Defense counsel indicated that the he had no objection to these instructions. (V5:T.847, 891).

Accordingly, Appellant cannot now complain on appeal that the

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